SECOND EDITION

FLAT PANEL DISPLAYS

JIUN-HAW LEE • I-CHUN CHENG • HONG HUA • SHIN-TSON WU





Series in Display Technology

Introduction to Flat Panel Displays

Wiley - SID Series in Display Technology

Series Editor: Dr. Ian Sage Advisory Board: Michael Becker, Paul Drzaic, Ioannis (John) Kymissis, Takatoshi Tsujimura, Michael Wittek, Qun (Frank) Yan

Display Systems: Design and Applications Lindsay W. MacDonald and Anthony C. Lowe (Eds.)

Reflective Liquid Crystal Displays Shin-Tson Wu and Deng-Ke Yang

Colour Engineering: Achieving Device Independent Colour Phil Green and Lindsay MacDonald (Eds.)

Display Interfaces: Fundamentals and Standards **Robert L. Myers**

Digital Image Display: Algorithms and Implementation **Gheorghe Berbecel**

Flexible Flat Panel Displays Gregory Crawford (Ed.)

Polarization Engineering for LCD Projection Michael G. Robinson, Jianmin Chen, and Gary D. Sharp

Fundamentals of Liquid Crystal Devices **Deng-Ke Yang and Shin-Tson Wu**

Introduction to Microdisplays David Armitage, Ian Underwood, and Shin-Tson Wu

Mobile Displays: Technology and Applications Achintya K. Bhowmik, Zili Li, and Philip Bos (Eds.)

Photoalignment of Liquid Crystalline Materials: Physics and Applications Vladimir G. Chigrinov, Vladimir M. Kozenkov, and Hoi-Sing Kwok

Projection Displays, Second Edition Mathew S. Brennesholtz and Edward H. Stupp

Introduction to Flat Panel Displays Jiun-Haw Lee, David N. Liu, and Shin-Tson Wu

LCD Backlights Shunsuke Kobayashi, Shigeo Mikoshiba, and Sungkyoo Lim (Eds.)

Liquid Crystal Displays: Addressing Schemes and Electro - Optical Effects, Second Edition **Ernst Lueder**

Transflective Liquid Crystal Displays **Zhibing Ge and Shin-Tson Wu**

Liquid Crystal Displays: Fundamental Physics and Technology **Robert H. Chen**

OLED Displays: Fundamentals and Applications Takatoshi Tsujimura

Interactive Displays Achintya K. Bhowmik

Illumination, Color and Imaging: Evaluation and Optimization of Visual Displays **P. Bodrogi, T. Q. Khan**

3D Displays Ernst Lueder

Addressing Techniques of Liquid Crystal Displays **Temkar N. Ruckmongathan**

Flat Panel Display Manufacturing Jun Souk, Shinji Morozumi, Fang-Chen Luo, and Ion Bita

Modeling and Optimization of LCD Optical Performance **Dmitry A. Yakovlev, Vladimir G. Chigrinov, and Hoi-Sing Kwok**

Physics and Technology of Crystalline Oxide Semiconductor CAAC-IGZO: Fundamentals Noboru Kimizuka, Shunpei Yamazaki

Physics and Technology of Crystalline Oxide Semiconductor CAAC-IGZO: Application to LSI **Shunpei Yamazaki, Masahiro Fujita**

Physics and Technology of Crystalline Oxide Semiconductor CAAC-IGZO: Application to Displays **Shunpei Yamazaki, Tetsuo Tsutsui**

Introduction to Flat Panel Displays

Jiun-Haw Lee National Taiwan University Taipei City, Taiwan

I-Chun Cheng National Taiwan University Taipei City, Taiwan

Hong Hua University of Arizona Arizona, USA

Shin-Tson Wu University of Central Florida Florida, USA

Second Edition

WILEY

This edition first published 2020 © 2020 John Wiley & Sons Ltd

Edition History: 1e Wiley, 2008

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted, in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise, except as permitted by law. Advice on how to obtain permission to reuse material from this title is available at http://www.wiley.com/go/permissions.

The right of Jiun-Haw Lee, I-Chun Cheng, Hong Hua and Shin-Tson Wu to be identified as the authors of this work have been asserted in accordance with law.

Registered Offices

John Wiley & Sons, Inc., 111 River Street, Hoboken, NJ 07030, USA John Wiley & Sons Ltd, The Atrium, Southern Gate, Chichester, West Sussex, PO19 8SQ, UK

Editorial Office

The Atrium, Southern Gate, Chichester, West Sussex, PO19 8SQ, UK

For details of our global editorial offices, customer services, and more information about Wiley products visit us at www.wiley.com.

Wiley also publishes its books in a variety of electronic formats and by print-on-demand. Some content that appears in standard print versions of this book may not be available in other formats.

Limit of Liability/Disclaimer of Warranty

In view of ongoing research, equipment modifications, changes in governmental regulations, and the constant flow of information relating to the use of experimental reagents, equipment, and devices, the reader is urged to review and evaluate the information provided in the package insert or instructions for each chemical, piece of equipment, reagent, or device for, among other things, any changes in the instructions or indication of usage and for added warnings and precautions. While the publisher and authors have used their best efforts in preparing this work, they make no representations or warranties with respect to the accuracy or completeness of the contents of this work and specifically disclaim all warranties, including without limitation any implied warranties of merchantability or fitness for a particular purpose. No warranty may be created or extended by sales representatives, written sales materials or promotional statements for this work. The fact that an organization, website, or product is referred to in this work as a citation and/or potential source of further information does not mean that the publisher and authors endorse the information or services the organization, website, or product may provide or recommendations it may make. This work is sold with the understanding that the publisher is not engaged in rendering professional services. The advice and strategies contained herein may not be suitable for your situation. You should consult with a specialist where appropriate. Further, readers should be aware that websites listed in this work may have changed or disappeared between when this work was written and when it is read. Neither the publisher nor authors shall be liable for any loss of profit or any other commercial damages, including but not limited to special, incidental, consequential, or other damages.

Library of Congress Cataloging-in-Publication Data

Names: Lee, Jiun-Haw, author. | Cheng, I-Chun, 1974- author. | Hua, Hong, 1973- author. | Wu, Shin-Tson, author. Title: Introduction to flat panel displays / Jiun-Haw Lee, National Taiwan University, Taipei City, Taiwan, I-Chun Cheng, National Taiwan University, Taipei City, Taiwan, Hong Hua, University of Arizona, Arizona, USA, Shin-Tson Wu, University of Central Florida, Florida, USA. Description: Second edition. | Hoboken, NJ : John Wiley & Sons, Inc., [2020] | Series: Wiley-SID series in display technology | Includes bibliographical references and index. Identifiers: LCCN 2020004365 (print) | LCCN 2020004366 (ebook) | ISBN 9781119282273 (cloth) | ISBN 9781119282198 (adobe pdf) | ISBN 9781119282228 (epub) Subjects: LCSH: Flat panel displays. Classification: LCC TK7882.I6 L436 2020 (print) | LCC TK7882.I6 (ebook) | DDC 621.3815/422-dc23 LC record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2020004365 LC ebook record available at https://lccn.loc.gov/2020004366

Cover Design: Wiley Cover Image: Yuichiro Chino/Getty Images

Set in 10/12pt WarnockPro by SPi Global, Chennai, India

Contents

Series Editor's Foreword xiii

- 1 Flat Panel Displays 1
- 1.1 Introduction 1
- 1.2 Emissive and non-emissive Displays 4
- 1.3 Display Specifications 4
- 1.3.1 Physical Parameters 5
- 1.3.2 Brightness and Color 7
- 1.3.3 Contrast Ratio 8
- 1.3.4 Spatial and Temporal Characteristics 8
- 1.3.5 Efficiency and Power Consumption 9
- 1.3.6 Flexible Displays 9
- 1.4 Applications of Flat Panel Displays 9
- 1.4.1 Liquid Crystal Displays 10
- 1.4.2 Light-Emitting Diodes 10
- 1.4.3 Organic Light-Emitting Devices 11
- 1.4.4 Reflective Displays 11
- 1.4.5 Head-Mounted Displays 12
- 1.4.6 Touch Panel Technologies *12* References *13*
- 2 Color Science and Engineering 15
- 2.1 Introduction 15
- 2.2 Photometry 16
- 2.3 The Eye 18
- 2.4 Colorimetry 22
- 2.4.1 Trichromatic Space 22
- 2.4.2 CIE 1931 Colormetric Observer 24
- 2.4.3 CIE 1976 Uniform Color System 27
- 2.4.4 CIECAM 02 Color Appearance Model 30
- 2.4.5 Color Gamut 31
- 2.4.6 Light Sources 32
- 2.4.6.1 Sunlight and Blackbody Radiators 32
- 2.4.6.2 Light Sources for Transmissive, Reflective, and Projection Displays 33
- 2.4.6.3 Color Rendering Index 34

2.5 Production and Reproduction of Colors 34 2.6 Display Measurements 35 Homework Problems 36 References 36 3 Thin Film Transistors 39 3.1 Introduction 39 3.2 Basic Concepts of Crystalline Semiconductor Materials 39 3.2.1 Band Structure of Crystalline Semiconductors 40 3.2.2 Intrinsic and Extrinsic Semiconductors 43 3.3 Classification of Silicon Materials 46 3.4 Hydrogenated Amorphous Silicon (a-Si:H) 46 3.4.1Electronic Structure of a:Si-H 47 3.4.2 Carrier Transport in a-Si:H 48 3.4.3 Fabrication of a-Si:H 48 3.5 Polycrystalline Silicon 49 3.5.1 Carrier Transport in Polycrystalline Silicon 49 3.5.2 Fabrication of Polycrystalline-Silicon 50 3.6 Thin-Film Transistors 52 Fundamentals of TFTs 52 3.6.1 3.6.2 a-Si:H TFTs 55 3.6.3 Poly-Si TFTs 55 3.6.4 Organic TFTs 56 3.6.5 Oxide Semiconductor TFTs 57 Flexible TFT Technology 59 3.6.6 3.7 PM and AM Driving Schemes 61 Homework Problems 67 References 67 4 Liquid Crystal Displays 71 4.1Introduction 71 4.2 Transmissive LCDs 72 4.3 Liquid Crystal Materials 74 4.3.1Phase Transition Temperatures 75 4.3.2 Eutectic Mixtures 75 4.3.3 Dielectric Constants 77 4.3.4 Elastic Constants 78 4.3.5 Rotational Viscosity 79 4.3.6 Optical Properties 80 4.3.7 Refractive Indices 80 4.3.7.1 Wavelength Effect 80 4.3.7.2 Temperature Effect 82 4.4 Liquid Crystal Alignment 83 4.5 Homogeneous Cell 84 4.5.1Phase Retardation Effect 85 4.5.2 Voltage Dependent Transmittance 86 4.6 Twisted Nematic (TN) 87 4.6.1 Optical Transmittance 87 4.6.2 Viewing Angle 89

viii Contents

- 4.6.3 Film-Compensated TN 90 4.7 In-Plane Switching (IPS) 91 4.7.1Device Structure 92 4.7.2Voltage-Dependent Transmittance 92 4.7.3 Viewing Angle 92 4.7.4 Phase Compensation Films 93 Fringe Field Switching (FFS) 95 4.8 4.8.1Device Configurations 95 4.8.2 n-FFS versus p-FFS 96 4.9 Vertical Alignment (VA) 98 4.9.1 Voltage-Dependent Transmittance 98 4.9.2 Response Time 99 4.9.3 Overdrive and Undershoot Addressing 101 Multi-domain Vertical Alignment (MVA) 102 4.9.4 4.10 Ambient Contrast Ratio 103 4.10.1 Modeling of Ambient Contrast Ratio 103 Ambient Contrast Ratio of LCD 103 4.10.2 4.10.3 Ambient Contrast Ratio of OLED 104 4.10.4 Simulated ACR for Mobile Displays 105 4.10.5 Simulated ACR for TVs 105 4.10.6 Simulated Ambient Isocontrast Contour 106 4.10.6.1 Mobile Displays 106 4.10.6.2 Large-Sized TVs 108 4.10.7 Improving LCD's ACR 109 4.10.8 Improving OLED's ACR 110 4.11 Motion Picture Response Time (MPRT) 112 4.12 Wide Color Gamut 114 4.12.1 Material Synthesis and Characterizations 115 4.12.2 Device Configurations 116 High Dynamic Range 118 4.13 Mini-LED Backlit LCDs 118 4.13.1 Dual-Panel LCDs 120 4.13.2 4.14 Future Directions 121 Homework Problems 123 References 124 5 Light-Emitting Diodes 135
- 5.1 Introduction 135
- 5.2 Material Systems *138*
- 5.2.1 AlGaAs and AlGaInP Material Systems for Red and Yellow LEDs 140
- 5.2.2 GaN-Based Systems for Green, Blue, UV and UV LEDs 141
- 5.2.3 White LEDs 143
- 5.3 Diode Characteristics 146
- 5.3.1 p- and n-Layer *147*
- 5.3.2 Depletion Region 148
- 5.3.3 J–V Characteristics 150
- 5.3.4 Heterojunction Structures 152
- 5.3.5 Quantum-Well, -Wire, and -Dot Structures 152
- 5.4 Light-Emitting Characteristics 154

x Contents

- 5.4.1Recombination Model 154
- 5.4.2L-J Characteristics 155
- 5.4.3 Spectral Characteristics 156
- 5.4.4 Efficiency Droop 159
- 5.5 Device Fabrication 160
- 5.5.1Epitaxy 161
- 5.5.2 Process Flow and Device Structure Design 165
- 5.5.3 Extraction Efficiency Improvement 166
- Packaging 168 5.5.4
- 5.6 Applications 169
- 5.6.1 Traffic Signals, Electronic Signage and Huge Displays 169
- 5.6.2 LCD Backlight 170
- 5.6.3 General Lighting 172
- 5.6.4 Micro-LEDs 173
- Homework Problems 175 References 175

6 **Organic Light-Emitting Devices** 179

- 6.1 Introduction 179
- 6.2 Energy States in Organic Materials 180
- 6.3 Photophysical Processes 182
- 6.3.1 Franck–Condon Principle 182
- 6.3.2 Fluorescence and Phosphorescence 183
- 6.3.3 Jablonski Diagram 185
- 6.3.4 Intermolecular Processes 186
- 6.3.4.1 Energy Transfer Processes 186
- 6.3.4.2 Excimer and Exciplex Formation 188
- 6.3.4.3 Quenching Processes 188
- 6.3.5 Quantum Yield Calculation 189
- 6.4 Carrier Injection, Transport, and Recombination 191
- 6.4.1 Richardson–Schottky Thermionic Emission 192
- 6.4.2 SCLC, TCLC, and P–F Mobility 193
- 6.4.3 Charge Recombination 195
- 6.4.4 Electromagnetic Wave Radiation 195
- 6.5 Structure, Fabrication and Characterization 197
- 6.5.1 Device Structure of Organic Light-Emitting Device 198
- 6.5.1.1 Two-Layer Organic Light-Emitting Device 198
- 6.5.1.2 Matrix Doping in the EML 200
- 6.5.1.3 HIL, EIL, and p-i-n Structure 202
- 6.5.1.4 Top-Emission and Transparent OLEDs 204
- 6.5.2 Polymer OLED 205
- 6.5.3 Device Fabrication 206
- 6.5.3.1 Thin-film Formation 207
- 6.5.3.2 Encapsulation and Passivation 210
- 6.5.3.3 Device Structures for AM Driving 211
- 6.5.4 Electrical and Optical Characteristics 212
- 6.5.5 Degradation Mechanisms 214
- 6.6 Triplet Exciton Utilization 219

- 6.6.1 Phosphorescent OLEDs 219
- 6.6.2 Triplet-Triplet Annihilation OLED 221
- 6.6.3 Thermally Activated Delayed Fluorescence 222
- 6.6.4 Exciplex-Based OLED 223
- 6.7 Tandem Structure 224
- 6.8 Improvement of Extraction Efficiency 226
- 6.9 White OLEDs 229
- 6.10 Quantum-Dot Light-Emitting Diode 231
- 6.11 Applications 233
- 6.11.1 Mobile OLED Display 233
- 6.11.2 OLED TV 234
- 6.11.3 OLED Lighting 235
- 6.11.4 Flexible OLEDs 235
- 6.11.5 Novel Displays 236 Homework Problems 236 References 237

7 Reflective Displays 245

- 7.1 Introduction 245
- 7.2 Electrophoretic Displays 245
- 7.3 Reflective Liquid Crystal Displays 249
- 7.4 Reflective Display Based on Optical Interference (Mirasol Display) 253
- 7.5 Electrowetting Display 254
- 7.6 Comparison of Different Reflective Display Technologies 256
 Homework Problems 256
 References 257

8 Fundamentals of Head-Mounted Displays for Virtual and Augmented Reality 259

- 8.1 Introduction 259
- 8.2 Human Visual System 262
- 8.3 Fundamentals of Head-mounted Displays 265
- 8.3.1 Paraxial Optical Specifications 265
- 8.3.2 Microdisplay Sources 272
- 8.3.3 HMD Optics Principles and Architectures 275
- 8.3.4 Optical Combiner 280
- 8.4 HMD Optical Designs and Performance Specifications 286
- 8.4.1 HMD Optical Designs 286
- 8.4.2 HMD Optical Performance Specifications 290
- 8.5 Advanced HMD Technologies 298
- 8.5.1 Eyetracked and Fovea-Contingent HMDs 299
- 8.5.2 Dynamic Range Enhancement 302
- 8.5.3 Addressable Focus Cues in HMDs 305
- 8.5.3.1 Extended Depth of Field Displays 307
- 8.5.3.2 Vari-Focal Plane (VFP) Displays 308
- 8.5.3.3 Multi-Focal Plane (MFP) Displays 309
- 8.5.3.4 Head-Mounted Light Field (LF) Displays 315
- 8.5.4 Head-Mounted Light Field Displays *316*
- 8.5.4.1 InI-Based Head-Mounted Light Field Displays 317

xii Contents

- 8.5.4.2 Computational Multi-Layer Head-Mounted Light Field Displays 321
- 8.5.5 Mutual Occlusion Capability 323 References 328

9 Touch Panel Technology 337

- 9.1 Introduction 337
- 9.2 Resistive Touch Panel 338
- 9.3 Capacitive Touch Panel 339
- 9.4 On-Cell and In-Cell Touch Panel 344
- 9.5 Optical Sensing for Large Panels 347 Homework Problems 348 References 348

Index 351

Series Editor's Foreword

The first edition of *Introduction to Flat Panel Displays* has proved to be a popular and valued resource, which has been widely used both as a textbook and for reference. However, it was published over a decade ago in 2008, and established readers of the SID book series will not need reminding how fundamentally the subject matter has changed in that time. It is worth recalling that 2008 is also reported to be the first year in which worldwide sales of LCD televisions exceeded those of CRT sets.

Continuing demand for the first edition demonstrates that there is still a need for a broad-based introductory but authoritative account of flat panel displays, and it followed that the editors of the present book should consider writing a new and revised edition. It soon became clear though, that a simple revision would not be sufficient, and the volume you are holding represents a comprehensively updated and rewritten book which reflects the present state and latest developments in flat panel display technologies and applications. In order to provide the reader with a book which is a reasonable size and properly focused on contemporary topics, chapters in the first edition which described display technologies of lesser current importance – plasma and field emission devices - have been dropped. Important new chapters have been added on topics which are now central to flat panel applications: near-eye displays, reflective/e-paper displays and touch panel devices. The chapters describing the well-established, dominant display technologies such as LCDs, OLEDs, and LEDs have been comprehensively revised and updated to reflect the full range of technologies used in commercial displays and to describe the most recent important advances in these devices. Chapters describing AM backplane devices and structures, and the key principles of vision and color science have likewise been thoroughly updated to reflect their evolution and importance. Each chapter has been authored by an expert in display science, and the enthusiasm of the writers for their subjects is evident in their work. The authors' work in preparing this new edition has been virtually the same as writing a new book from the beginning, and I am grateful to all of them for their persistence and dedication to the task.

Flat panel display technology has revolutionized the ways in which we interact with electronic systems and through that, shapes the way we lead our lives. The pace of innovation shows no signs of slowing and the new cohorts of scientists and engineers who take the subject forward will need a range of training and reference works. Providing these resources is a key objective of the SID book series, and I believe that the present volume will make an important contribution to this aim.

Ian Sage Great Malvern

Flat Panel Displays

1.1 INTRODUCTION

Displays provide a man-machine interface through which information can be passed to the human visual system. The information may include pictures, animations, and movies, as well as text. One can say that the most basic functions of a display are to produce, or re-produce, colors and images. The use of ink to write, draw, or print on a paper as in a painting or a book might be regarded as the longest established display medium. However, the content of such a traditional medium is static and is typically difficult or impossible to modify or update. Also, a natural or artificial source of light, is needed for reading a book or viewing a picture. In contrast, there are now many electronic display technologies, which use an electronic signal to create images on a panel and stimulate the eyes. In this chapter, we first introduce flat panel display (FPD) classifications in terms of emissive and non-emissive displays, where non-emissive displays include both transmissive and reflective displays. Then, specifications of FPDs will be outlined. Finally, the FPD technologies described in the later chapters of this book will be briefly introduced.

Displays can be subdivided into emissive and non-emissive technologies. Emissive displays emit light from each pixel which forms a part of the image on the panel. On the other hand, non-emissive displays modulate light by means of absorption, reflection, refraction, and scattering, to display colors and images. For a non-emissive display, a light source is needed. Such non-emissive displays can then be further classified into transmissive and reflective types. In historical terms, one of the most successful technologies for home entertainment has been the cathode ray tube (CRT), which enabled the widespread adoption of television (TV). It exhibits the advantages of being self-emissive and offering wide viewing angle, fast response, good color saturation, long lifetime, and good image quality. However, one of its major disadvantages is its size and bulk. The depth of a CRT is roughly equal to the length or width of the panel. For example, for a 19 in. (38.6 cm × 30.0 cm) CRT with aspect ratio of 4:3 the depth of a monitor is about 40 cm. Hence, it is hardly portable; its bulky size and heavy weight limit its applications.

In this book, we introduce various types of FPDs. As the name implies, these displays have a relatively thin profile, several centimeters or less, which is largely independent of the screen diagonal. Specifying a display or the design and optimization of a display-based product require selection of an appropriate technology, and are strongly dependent on the application and intended conditions of use. These issues, together with the intense pace of FPD development, which has made available many options and variations of the different display types, have made a thorough understanding of displays essential for product engineers. The options can be illustrated by some typical examples. For instance, the liquid crystal display (LCD) is presently the dominant FPD technology and is available with diagonal sizes ranging from less than 1 in. (microdisplay) to over 100 in. Such a display is usually driven by thin-film-transistors (TFTs). The liquid crystal cell acts as a light modulator which does not itself emit light. Hence, a backlight module is usually used behind a transmissive LCD panel to form a complete display module. In most LCDs, two crossed polarizers are employed which can provide a high contrast ratio. However, the use of polarizers limits the maximum optical transmittance to about 35–40%, unless a polarization conversion scheme is implemented. Moreover, at oblique angles the

2 1 Flat Panel Displays

optical performance of the assembly is degraded by two important effects. Firstly the projections of optic axes of two crossed polarizers onto the E vector of the light are no longer perpendicular to each other when light is incident at an oblique angle, so it is difficult to maintain a good dark state in the display over a wide viewing cone. Secondly, the liquid crystal (LC) is a birefringent medium, which means that electro-optic effects based on switching an LC are dependent on the relative directions of the incident light and the LC alignment in the cell. Hence, achieving a wide viewing angle and uniform color rendering in an LCD requires special care. To achieve wide-view, multi-domain architectures and phase compensation films (either uniaxial or biaxial) are commonly used; one for compensating the light leakage of crossed polarizer at large angles and another for compensating the birefringent LC layer. Using this phase compensation technique, transmissive multi-domain LCDs exhibit a high contrast ratio, high resolution, crisp image, vivid colors (when using quantum dots or narrow-band light emitting diodes), and a wide viewing angle. It is still possible for the displayed images to be washed out under direct sunlight. For example, if we use a smartphone or notebook computer in the high ambient light conditions found outdoors in clear weather, the images may not be readable. This is because the reflected sunlight from the LCD surface is much brighter than that transmitted from the backlight, so the ambient contrast ratio is greatly reduced. A broadband anti-reflection coating and adaptive brightness control help improve the sunlight readability.

Another approach to improve sunlight readability is to use reflective LCDs [1]. A reflective LCD uses ambient light to illuminate the displayed images. It does not need a backlight, so its weight, thickness, and power consumption are reduced. A wrist watch is such an example. Most reflective LCDs have inferior performance compared to transmissive ones in terms of contrast ratio, color saturation, and viewing angle. Moreover, in fully dark conditions a reflective LCD is not readable at all. As a result, its application is rather limited.

To overcome the sunlight readability issue while maintaining high image quality, a hybrid display termed a transflective liquid crystal display (TR-LCD) has been developed [2]. In a TR-LCD, each pixel is subdivided into two sub-pixels which provide, respectively, transmissive (T) and reflective (R) functions. The area ratio between T and R can be adjusted depending on the applications. For example, if the display is mostly used out of doors, then a design which has 80% reflective area and 20% transmissive area might be used. In contrast, if the display is mostly used indoors, then we can use 80% transmissive area and 20% reflective area. Within this TR-LCD family, there are various designs: double cell gap versus single cell gap, and double TFTs versus single TFT. These approaches attempt to solve the optical path-length disparity between the T and R sub-pixels. In the transmissive mode, the light from the backlight unit passes through the LC layer once, but in the reflective mode the ambient light traverses the LC medium twice. To balance the optical path-length, we can make the cell gap of the T sub-pixels twice as thick as that of the R sub-pixels. This is the dual cell gap approach. The single cell gap approach, however, has a uniform cell gap throughout the T and R regions. To balance the different optical path-lengths, several approaches have been developed, e.g. dual TFTs, dual fields (providing a stronger field for the T region and a weaker field in the R region), and dual alignments. Although TR-LCDs can improve sunlight readability, the fabrication process is much more complicated and the performance inferior to transmissive devices. Therefore, TR-LCD has not been widely adopted in products.

Light-emitting diodes (LEDs) consist of a semiconductor p-n junction, fabricated on a crystalline substrate. Under a forward bias, electrons and holes are injected into the device where they recombine and emit light. The emission wavelength of the LED is determined by the bandgap of the semiconductor. For longer wavelength (such as red and yellow) emission, an AlGaInP-based semiconductor is needed. Three group III (Al, Ga, and In) and one group IV (P) atoms are needed to allow tuning of the emission wavelength and lattice-matching to the substrate (e.g. GaAs). However, for shorter wavelength (green and blue) emission, it was not easy to find a lattice-matched substrate. Besides, there were other technological difficulties in fabricating nitride-based LEDs such as p-type doping and InGaN growth. In recognition of their successful demonstration of the InGaN-based blue LED, Professor Isamu Akasaki, Professor Hiroshi Amano, and Professor Shuji Nakamura were awarded the Nobel Prize in Physics in 2014. By combining the blue LED with phosphors, white emission is possible from a single chip. LEDs have been used for many display and lighting applications, such as traffic lights, very large diagonal (over 100 in.) signage, backlights of LCD, and general lighting, due to their long lifetime and high efficiency. A detailed description of LEDs from the viewpoints of materials, devices, fabrication, and applications will be presented in Chapter 5.

In Chapter 6, organic light-emitting devices (OLEDs) will be introduced. The operating principle of OLEDs is quite similar to that of the LED. It is also an electroluminescence (EL) device, but fabricated from organic materials rather than a semiconductor. In contrast to LEDs, it is not necessary to fabricate OLEDs on a crystalline substrate. From the manufacturing viewpoint, the OLED is similar to an LCD because it can be fabricated on a very large glass substrate. Apart from the usual glass substrate, OLEDs can be also fabricated on a flexible substrate if suitable processes are used. The device structure of the OLED is quite simple, comprising a stack of thin organic layers (~200 nm) sandwiched by anode and cathode electrodes. When transparent conductors are used for both the anode and cathode, a transparent display can be fabricated, while a metallic cathode layer can provide a mirror-like appearance. When the OLED is not activated the panel appears highly reflective, while information displayed on the OLED is superimposed on the mirror-like background. In addition to displays, OLEDs can provide a flat, large-area, and diffuse light source for general illumination. This is quite different from LED lighting which provides a point source and highly directional emission of light.

In Chapter 7, the basic working principles of several reflective display technologies, including electrophoretic displays, reflective liquid crystal displays, interferometric modulator displays and electrowetting displays, will be reviewed. These reflective displays do not require an internal light source. They possess some attractive features, providing low eye strain, low power consumption, and excellent optical contrast under high ambient light levels, and are favored for portable reading applications and for outdoor use. Some reflective displays require the image being displayed to be constantly refreshed, while some are bistable and retain the image without power. In bistable displays, energy is only consumed during switching operations. In addition, some have a video-rate switching capability, while others are more suitable for displaying still images. Today most monochrome reflective display technologies match the typical contrast ratio standard of 10:1 for printed images on paper, but the reflectance of their bright states are still less than the typical value of 80% for white paper. Many color reflective displays rely on color filters or side-by-side pixel subdivision. However, to achieve color images with good brightness and saturation, multiple colors within the same pixel area is desirable.

By fabricating a display on a flexible substrate rather than rigid glass, flexible displays (using technologies including LCD, OLED, and electrophoretic effects) can be fabricated with the advantages of being thin, robust, and lightweight.

Most FPDs have been developed to provide a format for direct-view applications, such as TVs, computer monitors, laptop screens, tablets, and smart phones. However, several FPD technologies including LCDs and OLEDs, can readily be made into microdisplays with panel sizes less than 1 in. and pixel sizes of tens of microns or less. Such microdisplays are not suitable for direct-viewing, but they have found applications in an emerging class of head-mounted displays (HMDs) which are key enablers for virtual reality and augmented reality systems. In Chapter 8, the working principles and recent development of head-mounted displays will be reviewed. Unlike a direct-view display, an HMD system requires an optical system to collect light from a microdisplay source and couple it into the viewer's eye. The system may use a single microdisplay and optical system to display a two-dimensional image to one eye, yielding a monocular information display. Alternatively, it may be configured with a microdisplay and viewing optics for each eye, yielding a binocular system with the capability of rendering stereoscopic views. In some of the most advanced HMD systems, each set of optics may be capable of rendering light fields which replicate the configuration of light rays originating from a real scene, enabling a true 3D viewing experience. The proximity of an HMD system to the eye allows it to be configured into one of two different types – either an immersive or a see-through display. An immersive HMD blocks a user's view of the real world and places the user in a purely computer-rendered virtual environment, creating the immersive visual experience known as virtual reality. A see-through HMD, on the other hand, blends views of the real world and a computer-rendered digital environment, creating an experience variously known as augmented reality, mixed reality or increasingly as spatial computing. Chapter 8 will start with a brief introduction to the optical principles of HMD systems and an overview of historical developments, then follow

4 1 Flat Panel Displays

with a brief review of the human visual system parameters critical to the design of an HMD system. It will then review paraxial optical specifications, common miniature display sources, optical principles and architectures, summarize optical design methods and optical performance specifications critical to HMD system design, and the chapter concludes with a review of several emerging HMD technologies with advanced capabilities, such as eyetracking, addressable focus cues, occlusion capability, high dynamic range, and light field rendering.

A touch panel (TP) is not a "flat panel display." However, it provides an intuitive interface which provides input to the machine, and provides an enhancement to many displays which is critical to their application. In some cases, a single touch sensing function is enough, such as in an automatic teller machine (ATM). On the other hand, a multi-touch function is needed for controlling many mobile devices (such as mobile phones and tablet computers). Usually, electrical parameters (such as resistance or capacitance values) of the TP are changed by touch and the x–y positions at which these changes occur provide the input function. So, a TP must be transparent to allow mounting on top of the display, and a separate TP increases the thickness of the display module. Integration of the TP and the display can reduce the module thickness. TP technologies will be introduced in Chapter 9.

1.2 EMISSIVE AND NON-EMISSIVE DISPLAYS

Both emissive and non-emissive FPDs have been developed. In emissive displays, each pixel emits light with a different intensity and color which stimulate the human eyes directly. CRTs, LED panels, and OLEDs are emissive displays. When the luminance of the panel viewed from different directions is constant, the device is called a Lambertian emitter and this represents an ideal performance for an emissive display because it results in a wide viewing angle performance. Due to the self-emissive characteristics, it can be used in conditions of very low ambient light. When such displays are turned off, they are completely dark (ignoring any ambient reflections). Hence, the display contrast ratio (see also Section 1.3.3) under low ambient light can be very high. On the other hand, displays which do not emit light themselves are called non-emissive displays. An LCD is a non-emissive display in which the liquid crystal molecules in each pixel work as a light switch, independently of the other pixels. An external voltage reorients the LC director which controls an optical phase retardation. As a result, light incident from the backlight unit or from the ambient is modulated. Most high-contrast LCDs use two crossed polarizers. The applied voltage controls the transmittance of the light through the polarizers. If the light source is behind the display panel, the display is termed a *transmissive* display. On the other hand, it is also possible to use the ambient light as the illumination source, imitating the principle of traditional media, such as reading a book, and the device is then called a *reflective* display. Different technologies for reflective displays such as electrophoretic, interferometric modulators, and electrowetting displays as well as LCDs will be introduced in Chapter 7. Since no extra light source is needed in a reflective display, its power consumption is relatively low. Under high ambient light conditions, images on emissive displays and transmissive LCDs can be washed out. In contrast, reflective displays exhibit a higher luminance as the ambient light increases. However, they cannot be used in dark conditions. Hence, transflective LCDs have been developed, which will be described in Chapter 4.

1.3 DISPLAY SPECIFICATIONS

In this section, we introduce some specifications which are generally used to describe and evaluate FPDs in terms of their mechanical, electrical, and optical characteristics. FPDs can be smaller than 1 in. for projection displays, 2-6 in. for cell phones, 7-9 in. for car navigation, $\sim 8-20$ in. for tablets and notebooks, $\sim 10-25$ in. for desktop computers, and $\sim 30-110$ in. for direct-view TVs. For different FPDs, their requirements for pixel resolution also differ. Luminance and color are two important characteristics which directly affect the display

performances. Dependencies of these two parameters on viewing angle as well as image uniformity, device lifetime, and response time should be addressed when describing the performances of a FPD. Contrast ratio is another important parameter, which strongly depends on the ambient environment.

1.3.1 Physical Parameters

The basic physical parameters of a FPD include the display size, aspect ratio, resolution, and pixel format. The size of a display is typically specified by the diagonal length, in units of inches. For example, a 15 in. display indicates that the diagonal of the viewable area is 38.1 cm. Display formats, include landscape, square, and portrait types, corresponding to display widths larger than, equal to, and smaller than the height, respectively. Most monitors and TVs use a landscape format with the width-to-height ratio, also called the "aspect ratio," of 4:3, 16:9, or 16:10, typically.

FPDs typically provide a rectangular "dot matrix" of addressable pixels which can display images and characters. To increase image quality, one may use more pixels in a display. Table 1.1 lists some standard resolutions of FPDs. For example, video graphics array (VGA) indicates a display 640 pixels in width and 480 in height. The aspect ratio is 4:3. Higher resolution typically (but not necessarily) provides better image quality. The HD series includes several wide screen standards with an aspect ratio of 16:9. FHD has a resolution of 1920×1080 , which may be abbreviated as 2K1K. Doubling the pixels count in columns and rows results in $4\times$ the resolution, which is termed UHD, 4K2K, or 4K. Similarly, an 8K standard is proposed with still higher resolution. Once the resolution, display size, and aspect ratio are known, one may obtain the pitch of pixels. For example, a 5.5 in. display with aspect ratio of 16:9 and FHD resolution has a pitch of $\sim 63 \,\mu$ m. Or, we can use pixel per inch (ppi) to describe the pixel density of the display. The above example corresponds to ~ 401 ppi.

In the case of an HMD system for VR or AR applications, a microdisplay source is used. Although the pixel resolution of the microdisplay is a critical contributor to the system performance, the image resolution perceived by the viewer also depends on the optical magnification of the viewing optics. For instance in an HMD system, a VGA resolution microdisplay can produce an image with an apparent angular resolution equivalent to or better than an image provided via a FHD microdisplay if the optical magnification to the VGA panel is substantially lower than that to the FHD panel, this angular resolution being traded off against the field of view of the image. More detailed discussion on the resolution metrics of HMD systems can be found in Chapter 8.

Note that not all of the panel area contributes to the displayed image; the active area of each pixel is normally surrounded by a small inactive area occupied by inter-electrode gaps and possibly other structures such as stray light barriers. One can define the "fill factor" or "aperture ratio" as the ratio of the active display area in a pixel over the whole pixel size, with its maximum value of 100%. Also, for a full-color display, at least three primary colors are needed to compose a color pixel. Hence, each color pixel is divided into three subpixels, red, green, and blue (RGB) which share the total pixel area. For example, if we assume that a color pixel has

Abbreviation	Full name	Resolution
VGA	Video graphics array	640×480
SVGA	Super video graphics array	800×600
XGA	Extended graphics array	1024×768
HD	High definition	1280×720
FHD	Full high definition	1920×1080
UHD (4K)	Ultra-high definition	3840×2160
8K		7680×4320



Figure 1.1 Subpixel layout of a FPD: (a) stripe, (b) mosaic, and (c) delta configurations.



Figure 1.2 (a) White (red + green + blue) pixels lit-on at the edge of the slope, and (b) with subpixel rendering in a stripe configuration. (c) "m" in italic (2) without and (3) with subpixel rendering on a display [3].

a size of $63 \,\mu\text{m} \times 63 \,\mu\text{m}$, then the dimension of each subpixel will be $21 \,\mu\text{m} \times 63 \,\mu\text{m}$. If the area of each active, switchable sub-pixel which contributes to light emission or transmission is $18 \,\mu\text{m} \times 60 \,\mu\text{m}$, then the fill factor will be ~82%.

Different layouts of RGB subpixels are possible, as shown in Figure 1.1. A stripe configuration, is straightforward and makes fabrication and driving circuit design relatively easy. However, for a given display area and resolution it provides a poor color mixing performance. Both mosaic and delta configurations make the fabrication process and/or the driving circuits more complicated, but the resulting image quality is higher because of their better color mixing capabilities.

When displaying an oblique black-on-white pattern on a display with a stripe subpixel configuration as shown in Figure 1.2, a clear sawtooth can be seen at the edge. However, because each pixel is formed of three subpixels, these can be switched on in a controlled sequence from the top to the bottom such that edge of the pattern appears smoother – a technique called "subpixel rendering." [3] Obviously, the colors at the edges of some rows are no longer white. For the first and the fourth rows, the red subpixel is switched on at the edge while for the second and the fifth rows, red and green emission results in a yellow color at the edge. This is called a "color fringing artifact." Figure 1.3 shows the letter "m" in italic, without and with subpixel rendering. A smoother edge can be clearly seen when subpixel rendering is used. Advanced sub-pixel rendering algorithms not only switch different sub-pixels on or off at an oblique edge, but also adjust their luminance values to optimize the visual quality of the image.



Figure 1.3 (a) stripe, (b) PenTile[™] RGRB, and (c) PenTile RGBW configurations [3].

There are three kinds of photoreceptor cells in human eyes, which respond to long, medium, and short wavelength regions of the visible spectrum. That is the major reason we use red, green, and blue as three primaries for the display and will be discussed further in Chapter 2. The arrangement of the photoreceptor cells does not correspond to a stripe configuration. Besides this, the numbers for different types of cell are not the same. The PenTile[™] configuration has been proposed to mimic the layout of different photoreceptors in the eye to achieve better color mixing [4]. Here, "Pen" is a contraction of the Greek prefix "penta" meaning five and indicates that five subpixels form a pixel. There are many possible formats; Figure 1.3b shows one of them which is called the RGBG format. Combined with the subpixel rendering technique, a high display resolution can be obtained with a larger subpixel size. Figure 1.3a,b show the stripe and PenTile layouts with the same resolution. One can see that PenTile configuration allows larger red and blue subpixels. This is important for some displays, such as OLEDs, because it is not easy to reduce the subpixel size during fabrication. Hence, the PenTile arrangement can relax the design rules required in manufacture of displays for a given resolution. Also for OLED displays, the lifetime of the blue sub-pixel is an issue and by enlarging the blue emitting region its current density can be reduced and its lifetime extended. Another type of PenTile pattern is the RGBW arrangement, shown in Figure 1.3c. Here, a white subpixel is added alongside the three primary colors. In some displays such as LCD, where different colors are obtained by filtering unwanted colors from a white backlight, the blocked light is responsible for a major loss in efficiency. With the introduction of the white subpixel, the efficiency can be raised.

A device in which the pixel density is increased to the point where the human eye cannot resolve the individual pixels, is called a "retina display." This implies a very high resolution so that when projected onto the retina of the eye, the pixel density is higher than that of the photoreceptors in the retina. Evidently, a higher ppi is required for displays such as phones which are used closer to the eye, in order to satisfy the requirement for a retina display. Typically, ~300 ppi is required for a phone with a typical viewing distance of ~30 cm. With larger viewing distances such as those normal when watching a TV, a larger pixel is acceptable in a retina display. A detailed illustration of retina displays will be presented in Chapter 2.

1.3.2 Brightness and Color

Luminance and color gamut are two of the most important optical characteristics of a FPD. A display with high luminance looks dazzling under dark conditions. On the other hand, a display with insufficient brightness appears washed out under high ambient light levels. Typically, the luminance of a FPD should be as bright as (or a little brighter than) real objects under the ambient light in which the display is used. In an ordinary indoor environment, a monitor has a luminance of 200–300 cd m⁻². For a large screen TV, a higher luminance (500–1000 cd m⁻²) may be needed. A FPD is used to produce or reproduce colors, hence, the number of colors a FPD can display, and how closely the color displayed on a FPD matches that of the real object (color fidelity)

8 1 Flat Panel Displays

are two important characteristics to judge display performance. Since the color on a FPD is produced by mixing together (at least) three primary colors, i.e. RGB, more "pure" (narrow-band) primaries result in a broader range of colors which can be displayed, which is called the "color gamut" (see Section 2.4.5). As well as the usual three primaries (red, green, and blue), more primaries (such as yellow and cyan) can be added into the subpixels and can further broaden the color gamut. Besides, with suitable design of the driving method, the power consumption of the display can be reduced simultaneously [5, 6]. The perceived range of brightness from dark to bright can be divided into equal steps defined by numbers with 2, 4, 8, or more bits, which are called "gray levels" or collectively a "gray scale" (see Section 2.4.3). For example, a FPD can display 16 million colors ($2^8 \times 2^8 \times 2^8 \times 2^8 \sim 16.8$ M) when each RGB subpixel can show 256 (8 bit) gray levels.

1.3.3 Contrast Ratio

The device contrast ratio (CR) of a FPD is defined as:

$$CR = L_w/L_b CR = L_w/L_b, \tag{1.1}$$

where L_w and L_b are the luminances of the white and black states, respectively. A higher CR requires a higher on/off ratio and hence potentially better image quality and higher color saturation. When CR is equal to or below 1, the information content of a FPD is lost or inverted. For most emissive displays, the off-state luminance is zero. Hence, the contrast ratio is infinite under perfectly dark viewing conditions. However, under ambient light conditions, surface reflections from the display mean that Eq. (1.1) should be modified to:

$$CR_{A} = (L_{w} + L_{ar})/(L_{b} + L_{ar}),$$
 (1.2)

where CR_A stands for the ambient contrast ratio, and L_{ar} is the luminance from ambient reflection. From Eq. (1.2), as the ambient reflection increases, CR_A decreases sharply. To maintain a high ambient contrast under increasing ambient light levels, one can: (i) increase the on-state luminance, and (ii) reduce the reflectance of the display surface. However, under a very high ambient such as outdoor sunlight, luminance from the direct sun is 4 orders of magnitude higher than a FPD, which severely washes out the information content of any emissive or transmissive FPD. Sunlight readability is an important issue especially for mobile displays. On the other hand, an adequate ambient light is required for viewing conventional media such as a book or newspaper. A similar consideration applies to reflective displays, such as reflective LCDs.

1.3.4 Spatial and Temporal Characteristics

Uniformity of a FPD refers to any unwanted change in the luminance and color over a display area. Human eyes are sensitive to luminance and color differences. For example, a 5% luminance difference is noticeable between two adjacent pixels. In the case of a gradual change, human eyes can tolerate up to 20% luminance change over the whole display.

Optical characteristics (luminance and color) may also change at different viewing angles. For Lambertian emitters, such as CRTs, the viewing angle performance is quite good. The emission profile of LEDs and OLEDs can be engineered by packaging and optimizing their layer structure, respectively. However, the viewing angle of LCDs requires careful attention because LC materials are birefringent and crossed polarizers are no longer crossed when viewed at oblique angles. There are several ways to quantify the viewing angle of a FPD. For example, one may masure the viewing cone with: (i) a luminance threshold, (ii) a minimum contrast ratio, say 10:1, or (iii) a specified maximum value of color shift. In some cases the contrast ratio viewed at oblique angle can be smaller than 1, resulting in "gray level inversion."

Response time is another important metric. If a FPD has a slow response time, one may see blurred images of fast moving objects. By switching the pixel from "off" to "on" and from "on" to "off," one can obtain rise and fall times, respectively which are typically specified between 10% and 90% luminance levels,. One may

also define the response time from one to another gray level – the so-called "gray-to-gray" (GTG) response time. Most displayed scenes contain extensive areas of different luminance pixels, so the GTG response time is more meaningful. For LCDs, this GTG response time may be much longer than the black-white rise and fall time [7]. The TFT matrix used to address many FPDs provides a voltage set-and-hold function. This is quite different from the CRT's impulse type response, and requires a different metric to characterize it. Therefore, a motion picture response time (MPRT) [8] is commonly used to define the response time of a TFT LCD, which will be further discussed in Chapters 2 and 4.

After a long period of operation, the luminance of a FPD (especially for emissive display) may decay. If a fixed pattern is displayed on an emissive panel for a long period of time, then all the pixels are turned on to display a blank white screen, one can see a "ghost image" of the fixed pattern displayed with a lower brightness, which is called a "residual image" or "burn-in." As mentioned before, human eye can detect less than 5% nonuniformity between two adjacent pixels. Hence the lifetime of a FPD is crucial for static images. An alternative solution is to use only moving pictures, rather than static images for information display. Then the luminances of all the pixels decay uniformly, since the average on time for all pixels is the same.

1.3.5 Efficiency and Power Consumption

Power consumption is a key parameter, especially for mobile displays, as it affects the battery life. For displays with wall-plug electrical input, lower power consumption implies a lower heat generation, which means heat dissipation is easier and "green" environment targets can be met more easily. Typically, one uses the unit lm/W to describe power efficacy of a FPD (see Section 2.2). A portable display with lower power consumption leads to a longer battery life. For notebooks and TVs, a high optical efficiency also translates into less heat dissipation and a lower electricity bill. Thermal management in a small chassis device is an important issue. Energy Star is a program which defines the "power consumption" for electronic products, such as displays (https://www .energystar.gov). For example, in Energy Star Display Specification 7.1 (released in April 2017), the maximum power consumption of the display under on-state operation is defined, which is related to the screen area and the maximum luminance of the display. For example, the maximum power consumption of a 60 in. TV with aspect ratio 4:3 and maximum luminance 500 cd/m² should be less than 144 W.

1.3.6 Flexible Displays

A FPD is usually fabricated on thin glass plates which provide a rather rigid substrate. On the other hand, conventional media are printed on paper, which is flexible. An important current research and development theme is fabrication of FPDs on a flexible substrate, to provide a conformable or "paper-like" display [9]. Compared to glass-based FPDs, flexible displays are thin and lightweight. In addition, flexible displays can potentially be fabricated by a roll-to-roll process at low cost. Potential substrates for flexible FPDs include ultra-thin glass, plastic, and stainless steel. A bendable ultra-thin glass substrate is possible, but the cost is high. Plastic substrates are suitable for flexible displays, but the highest temperature which can be tolerated in the manufacturing process is typically lower than 200 °C. A stainless steel substrate is bendable, and resistant to high temperatures, however, it is opaque and therefore not suitable for transmissive displays. There are many technical bottlenecks for flexible FPDs, such as material selection, fabrication processes, device configurations, display packaging and measurement.

1.4 APPLICATIONS OF FLAT PANEL DISPLAYS

The following sections briefly outline the applications of each technology. Details will be described in the related chapters.

1.4.1 Liquid Crystal Displays

Although LC materials were discovered more than a century ago [10, 11], their useful electro-optic effects and stable materials are developed only in late 1960s and 1970s. In the early stage, passive matrix LCDs were adopted in electronic calculators and wrist watches [12]. With the advance of thin film transistors [13], color filters [14], and low voltage LC effects [15], active matrix LCDs gradually penetrated into the market of notebook computers, desktop monitors, and televisions. Today, LCDs have found widespread uses in our everyday life, including smartphones, tablets, virtual reality and augmented reality displays, automotive displays, navigation systems, notebook computers, desktop monitors, and large screen TVs [16].

To satisfy this wide range of applications, three types of LCDs have been developed: transmissive, reflective, and transflective. Transmissive LCDs can be further separated into projection and direct-view devices. In a high-resolution smartphone display, the pixel size is around 30–40 µm. Thus, the TFT aperture ratio becomes particularly important because it limits the light throughput [17]. To enlarge the aperture ratio, poly-silicon (p-Si) TFTs are commonly used because their electron mobility is about two orders of magnitude higher than that of amorphous (a-Si) silicon. High mobility allows a smaller TFT to be used which, in turn, enlarges the aperture ratio. For a detailed structure of a TFT LCD, please see Figure 4.1.

For a large-sized LCD TV, say 65 in. diagonal, 16:9 aspect ratio, and 3840×2160 resolution, the pixel size is about $350 \,\mu\text{m}$ by $350 \,\mu\text{m}$, which is much larger than that of a microdisplay. Thus, a-Si silicon is adequate although its electron mobility is relatively low. Amorphous silicon is easy to fabricate and has good uniformity. Thus, a-Si TFT dominates large screen LCD panel market.

Similarly, reflective LCDs can also be divided into projection and direct-view displays. In projection displays using Liquid-Crystal-on-Silicon (LCoS) [18], the pixel size can be as small as 4 µm because of the high electron mobility of crystalline silicon (c-Si). In an LCoS panel, the electronic driving circuits are hidden beneath the metallic (aluminum) reflector. Therefore, the aperture ratio can reach >90% and the displayed picture is quite smooth. On the other hand, most reflective direct-view LCDs use a-Si TFTs and a circular polarizer. Its sunlight readability is excellent, but it is not readable in a dark ambient. Therefore, a thin front light is needed for reflective direct-view LCDs.

To obtain a high quality transmissive display and good sunlight readability, a hybrid TR-LCD has been developed. In a TR-LCD, each pixel is divided into two sub-pixels: one for transmissive and another for reflective display [19]. In a dark to normal ambient, the backlight is turned on and the TR-LCD works as a transmissive display. Under direct sunlight, TR-LCD works in the reflective mode. Therefore, its dynamic range is wide and its functionality does not depend on the ambient lighting condition. TR-LCD can overcome sunlight readability issues, but its fabrication is much more complicated and the cost is higher than its transmissive counterpart. As a result, its application is limited. For a detailed discussion of TR-LCDs, please refer to Chapter 4.

1.4.2 Light-Emitting Diodes

The LED is an electroluminescent (EL) device based on crystalline semiconductors [20]. To convert electrical to optical power, one has to inject carriers into the LED through electrodes, which then recombine to give light. The emission wavelength is mainly determined by the semiconductor material, and can be fine-tuned by device design.

Since it is difficult to grow large size single crystals, the wafer diameter of LEDs is limited to about 8 in. After device processing, LEDs are diced from the wafer followed by a packaging process. The size of a single packaged LED is typically several millimeters, which means that the pixel size of an LED panel is large, and suitable for use in huge area displays. Due to their self-emissive characteristic, LEDs are commonly used for large displays, such as outdoor signage (mono color, multi-color, and full color), traffic signals, and general lighting to replace light bulbs. Compared to conventional devices using light bulbs, LED displays exhibit the advantages of lower power consumption, greater robustness, longer lifetime, and lower driving voltage (so safer). There are also many outdoor screens with diagonals over 100 in. which consist of millions of LED pixels.

Rather than providing a display itself, an LED can be also used as the light source, such as in a backlight module for an LCD, and for general lighting. Compared to the conventional cold cathode fluorescent lamp (CCFL), which resembles a thin fluorescent tube, LED exhibits a better color performance, longer lifetime, and faster response. Another important motivation to use LEDs in LCD backlighting is that the mercury in CCFLs is harmful to the environment. When using LEDs for general lighting applications, a broad emission spectrum is preferred to simulate natural light, such as sunlight, and obtain a faithful color rendering of the reflective objects (Section 2.4.6). This is quite different from the requirements for LED displays and LCD backlights, which usually need a narrow spectrum.

1.4.3 Organic Light-Emitting Devices

The OLED is also an EL device, like the LED, except its materials are organic thin films with amorphous structures [21]. Amorphous organic materials have a much lower carrier mobility (typically five order of magnitude lower) than crystalline semiconductors, which results in a higher driving voltage for OLEDs. Besides, the operational lifetime of OLEDs is one order of magnitude shorter than semiconductor LEDs. However, due to its amorphous characteristics, fabrication of large size panels (e.g. 55 in.) is possible.

Since the conductivity of amorphous organic materials is very low, very thin organic films (100-200 nm in total) are required to reduce the driving voltage to a reasonable value (i.e. <10 V). It is quite a challenge in thin film formation, especially for large size substrates. Several fabrication technologies have been proposed, such as physical vapor deposition, spin-coating, ink-jet printing, and laser-assisted patterning. OLEDs are widely used in display applications (such as TVs and mobile phones). Besides, OLEDs can be used in lighting applications [22, 23]. Two advantages of OLEDs are: (i) low process temperature, and (ii) compatibility with different substrate materials, which makes them suitable for flexible displays. One of the strategies for OLED development is to improve the device performance (especially driving voltage and lifetime) to match (or at least approach) those of LEDs. Due to their large size fabrication capability, the potential manufacturing cost of OLEDs is lower than LEDs. Because OLEDs have some advantages in performance and fabrication cost over LEDs, it has a chance to replace LEDs in some applications since they are both EL devices with similar operational principles.

1.4.4 Reflective Displays

A wide variety of reflective display technologies are available today. They are quite different in working principles and performance. Some of them, such as interferometric modulator displays, electrowetting displays and guest-host polymer dispersed liquid crystal displays exhibit fast response and are capable of video frame rate operation. However, most of them are still some way from commercial success because of their poor color gamut and relatively high power consumption for video rate operation. On the other hand, bistable reflective display technologies with sufficiently good reflectivity and contrast ratio, such as electrophoretic displays and cholesteric liquid crystal displays, are attractive for displaying (quasi)static images where a low switching speed is not a major concern. With the advantages of low power consumption and good outdoor readability, these reflective displays are suitable for portable reading devices, wearable or mobile devices and signage applications. For instance, electrophoretic technologies have been adopted in many e-book readers and electronic paper displays. Because many of the reflective display technologies can be made thin and flexible, they are suited to billboards, signage and shelf-edge labels. In the application of wearable or mobile devices, these low-power paper-like reflective display technologies have been incorporated into an electronic paper watch, electronic wristband, and similar devices. For detailed discussions of the above-mentioned reflective displays, please refer to Chapter 7.

1.4.5 Head-Mounted Displays

Head-mounted displays (HMDs), also known as head-worn or near-eye displays, are typically attached in close proximity to a user's eye and require an optical system to couple the light from a microdisplay source into the user's eye. The basic principles of an HMD system can be dated back to 1830s when Sir Charles Wheatstone proposed the concept of the stereoscope for viewing a pair of static photographs with slight disparities. Through over a century of technical development, the stereoscope has evolved into a new class of display technology enabling a new paradigm of applications. Instead of static photographs and simple mirrors, modern HMD systems enjoy a wide range of choices of electronic displays as the image sources, a wide range of advanced optics technologies in the optical viewer, and a wide range of sensing, computing, and communication capabilities.

A modern HMD system can be as simple as a microdisplay source plus a single magnifier-like eyepiece, providing a monocular display for information access and navigation. It can also be configured into a very sophisticated system integrating not only advanced microdisplays and optics but also a suite of advanced sensors and computing hardware and software, yielding a computing platform for advanced missions and visual experiences. Some advanced HMD systems go beyond the traditional route of displaying a 2D image or rendering a 3D perception of depth via binocular viewing, and create a true 3D viewing experience via light field rendering.

Over many decades of development, HMD technology has become a key enabler for virtual reality and augmented reality applications. To satisfy the needs of VR and AR applications, two types of HMDs have been developed: immersive and see-through. Immersive HMDs, primarily used for VR systems, block a user's view of the real world and immerse him or her in a purely computer-rendered virtual environment. See-through HMDs, mainly used for AR systems, blend views of the real world and a computer-rendered digital world digitally or optically. Both types of HMD technology share most of the same fundamental optical principles and requirements, but see-through HMDs, especially those providing optical see-through, confront many unique optical challenges. For instance, an optical combiner which combines the light paths of the real-world and virtual world views, plays a critical role in the architecture of optical see-through HMDs. It can be as simple as a beamsplitter or as sophisticated as a holographic waveguide.

The rapidly growing interest in VR and AR applications, the ever-increased bandwidth and accessibility of wireless networks, the miniaturization of electronics, and the ever-growing power of computers have collectively boosted the rapid development of HMD technologies in recent years. Please refer to Chapter 8 for a detailed discussion of the historic development, basic working principles, optical design fundamentals, and recent advances in head-mounted displays.

1.4.6 Touch Panel Technologies

When a TP is touched, an electrical, optical, or magnetic parameter is changed and the point of touch can be identified. As electrical signals, typically we can use changes of resistance or capacitance. A resistive TP consists of two substrates. The inner sides of the substrates are coated with transparent resistive layers, separated by an air gap. The outer substrate is deformable. When the resistive TP is touched, contact is made between the upper and lower conductive layers. The contact position affects the resistance value read out from the driving circuit. However, the air gap between the two substrates results in a low optical transmittance, which reduces the luminance from the display panel. An important use case is when the object which touches the TP is a finger. This can be regarded as equivalent to a capacitor connected to the ground which therefore changes the capacitance measured at the TP. That is the basic idea of the capacitive TP. With suitable design of vertical and horizontal electrodes on the substrate, self- and mutual-capacitance TPs can be obtained, respectively. Note that a conductive object such as a finger is needed to activate the touch function on a capacitive TP. When a TP is physically stacked on top of the display, it is called an "out-cell" configuration. To reduce the thickness of the TP-display module and simplify the fabrication process, on-cell and in-cell TPs have been

introduced. Taking the LCD as an example, it consists of two glass substrates. By fabricating the TP onto the outer substrate, an on-cell configuration is created. Note that there is a dense array of TFTs and conductors on the bottom substrate of the TFT panel. With a suitable layout and driving scheme, a TP can be integrated inside the display, which is called the "in-cell" configuration.

References

- 1 Wu, S.T. and Yang, D.K. (2001). Reflective Liquid Crystal Displays. Wiley.
- 2 M. Okamoto, H. Hiraki, and S. Mitsui, U.S. Patent 6,281,952, Aug. 28 (2001).
- **3** Fang, L., Au, O.C., Tang, K., and Wen, X. (2013). Increasing image resolution on portable displays by subpixel rendering a systematic overview. *APSIPA Trans. Signal Inform. Process.* 1: 1.
- 4 Brown Elliott, C.H., Credelle, T.L., Han, S. et al. (2003). Development of the PenTile Matrix[™] color AMLCD subpixel architecture and rendering algorithms. *J. SID* 11 (/1): 89.
- 5 Cheng, H.C., Ben-David, I., and Wu, S.T. (2010). Five-primary-color LCDs. J. Disp. Technol. 6: 3.
- 6 Luo, Z. and Wu, S.T. (2014). A spatiotemporal four-primary color LCD with quantum dots. *J. Disp. Technol.* 10: 367.
- 7 Wang, H., Wu, T.X., Zhu, X., and Wu, S.T. (2004). Correlations between liquid crystal director reorientation and optical response time of a homeotropic cell. *J. Appl. Phys.* 95: 5502.
- 8 Song, W., Li, X., Zhang, Y. et al. (2008). Motion-blur characterization on liquid-crystal displays. J. SID 16: 587.
- 9 Crawford, G.P. (2005). Flexible Flat Panel Displays. Wiley.
- 10 Reinitzer, F. (1888). Beiträge zur kenntniss des cholesterins. Monatsh. Chem. 9: 421.
- 11 Lehmann, O. (1889). Über fliessende Krystalle. Z. Phys. Chem. 4: 462.
- 12 Ishii, Y. (2007). The world of liquid crystal display TVs-Past, Present and Future. J. Disp. Technol. 3: 351.
- 13 Lechner, B.J., Marlowe, F.J., Nester, E.O., and Tults, J. (1971). Liquid crystal matrix displays. *Prof. IEEE* 59: 1566.
- 14 Fischer, A.G., Brody, T.P., and Escott, W.S. (1972). Design of a liquid crystal color TV panel. In: *Proc. IEEE Conf. on Display Devices*, New York, NY, 64.
- 15 Schadt, M. and Helfrich, W. (1971). Voltage-dependent optical activity of a twisted nematic liquid crystal. *Appl. Phys. Lett.* 18: 127.
- 16 Liu, C.T. (2007). Revolution of the TFT LCD technology. J. Disp. Technol. 3: 342.
- 17 Stupp, E.H. and Brennesholtz, M. (1998). Projection Displays. New York: Wiley.
- 18 Armitage, D., Underwood, I., and Wu, S.T. (2006). Introduction to Microdisplays. Wiley.
- 19 Zhu, X., Ge, Z., Wu, T.X., and Wu, S.T. (2005). J. Disp. Technol. 1: 15.
- 20 Round, H.J. (1907). A note on carborundum. Electr. World 19: 309.
- 21 Tang, C.W. and Vanslyke, S.A. (1987). Organic electroluminescent diodes. Appl. Phys. Lett. 51: 913.
- 22 Iino, S. and Miyashita, S. (2006). Printable OLEDs promise for future TV market. SID Symp. Dig. 37: 1463.
- **23** Hirano, T., Matsuo, K., Kohinata, K. et al. (2007). Novel laser transfer technology for manufacturing large-sized OLED displays. *SID Symp. Dig.* 38: 1592.

Color Science and Engineering

2.1 INTRODUCTION

2

Display systems are used to produce and reproduce color images which makes the topic "color science and engineering" very important for evaluating their performance. Typically, the perception of colors can be treated as a four-stage process: (i) existence of a light source – either man made or natural, (ii) light-object interaction - such as reflection, absorption, and transmission, (iii) stimulation of the eyes, and (iv) recognition by the brain. Figure 2.1a, illustrates the human eye seeing the color of an object under sunlight, which is a "white" light source because its spectral bandwidth covers the entire visible range. If there was no light source, there would be no photons to stimulate the human eye and, therefore, no color could be formed. Under illumination, the object (e.g., paper in Figure 2.1a) absorbs a portion of the incident photons and reflects the rest. As shown in Figure 2.1b, there are yellow and green inks on the white paper. When incident white light illuminates the yellow ink, the "blue" component of the white light is most strongly absorbed. The reflected light contains a higher proportion of red and green wavelengths, resulting in a perception of yellow. Similarly, the green ink absorbs "red" and "blue" light. Where there is no ink, the white paper reflects all components of the white light almost equally, so it appears white. It follows from the above discussion, that the color of an object is also dependent on the spectral content of the incident light. For example, if the light source is red, then the yellow ink will have the same appearance as the white paper. After the light-object interaction, reflected photons are received by the detector; here it is a human eye. To properly describe a light wave, there are four basic parameters: intensity, wavelength, phase, and polarization. Photons with different emission wavelengths in the visible region (~380-780 nm) stimulate the photosensitive cells (cone and rod cells, as discussed later) of the eye which generate the perception of different colors, such as violet, blue, green, yellow, orange, and red. The light intensity gives the observer a perception of bright and dark. However, the human eye cannot resolve the polarization state and phase of the light.

In human eyes, in individuals with "normal" color vision, there are three different types of cone cells with different spectral sensitivities. This makes it possible to use three primary colors (red, green, and blue) to generate different (but not all) the colors and to describe the colors quantitatively [1]: this is called "trichromatic space." In 1931, the Commission Internationale de l'Eclairage (CIE) suggested the (X, Y, Z) colorimetric system, which can specify all the colors by their distinct coordinates, and also indicates the brightness of the target object [2]. It is a convenient system for describing colors. However, the CIE 1931 system is not suitable for discussing the magnitude of the perceived difference between two colors. Besides, the 1931 system is set up to quantify the colors of self-luminous objects without any ambient reference – which is not unrealistic for some display applications. To solve this problem, the uniform color spaces are proposed (e.g., CIE 1976 (L*u*v*)- and (L*a*b*)-spaces). In these systems, a numerical "color difference" can be specified for two colors. In different areas of the CIE 1976 color diagrams (for example, for two similar greenish colors or for two red-dish colors), just-distinguishable color difference is nearly identical in magnitude. Since the trichromatic space can be quantitatively described by CIE colorimetric systems, different colors can be produced or reproduced in a display device by mixing three primary emitters. Although the reflection spectrum of a "real" object is





Figure 2.1 Formation of colors.

different from the one appearing on the display, they appear the same color to the human visual system. This ability of different spectral power distributions to produce identical perceived colors, is called "metamerism."

In this chapter, we first describe photometry, then the structure of the human eye and its functionalities, followed by the formulation of colorimetry which includes the CIE standards, light sources, and finally metamerism.

2.2 PHOTOMETRY

Due to the spectral sensitivity of the human eye, we perceive brighter or dimmer illumination from light sources with the same optical output power (in terms of Watts) emitting at different wavelengths. Here, the photometric unit, lumen (lm), is defined as: the luminous flux (*F*) from a monochromatic light at 555 nm emitting the optical power of 1/683 W. The spectral sensitivity of the human eye can be represented as $V(\lambda)$ under the photopic region and reaches its highest sensitivity at 555 nm, which will be illustrated in Section 2.3. For example, $V(\lambda)$ is 0.1 at 650 nm, which means the sensitivity is 10× less than at 555 nm. So, 1/68.3 W is needed for monochromatic light at 650 nm to obtain 1 lm. Actually, the primary photometric unit is not "lm," but candela (cd), which is defined as one lumen per unit solid angle (lm/sr) and is called luminous intensity (*I*). The initial definition of 1 cd was the luminous intensity of a standardized plumber's candle. As shown in Figure 2.2, the candle emits light in all directions, hence we use "lm" to describe the radiant flux. When



Figure 2.2 Illustrations of photometric units.

Photometric terms	Symbol	Units	Definition	
Luminous flux	F	lm	lm	
Luminous intensity	Ι	cd	lm/sr	
Illuminance	M	lux	lm/m^2	
Luminous exitance	Ε	lux	lm/m^2	
Luminance	L	nit	cd/m^2	

 Table 2.1
 Definitions of photometric units.

human eyes view the candle, they only admit light within a limited solid angle, so we receive the luminous intensity in terms of "cd." The candle can be used as a light source to illuminate an object. Then, we can define the "illuminance" (*E*) of the light source in units of lux, or lm/m^2 . After light–object interaction, the light is modulated (reflected, transmitted, scattered, or absorbed) by the object and can be regarded as being re-emitted from the object, where apparent emission is referred to as the luminous exitance (*M*) which again has units of lux. When people see the object illuminated by the light source, the human eyes receive light only within a certain angular range, so the luminance (*L*) of the object can be defined as cd/m^2 , or nits. Definitions of photometric units are also shown in Table 2.1.

Example 2.1 A perfect diffuse surface means its luminance observed from different viewing angles is constant, which is also called a "Lambertian surface." For example, rough paper approximates a Lambertian surface. For a Lambertian surface (with a size A) illuminated by a light source with illuminance E, what is the luminance (L) of this surface? Assume this surface can perfectly reflect all the light, i.e. luminous flux of the incident beam on the surface is equal to that of the exiting light.

Answer

From Table 2.1, luminance (*L*, in terms of cd/m^2) can be also regarded as the luminous intensity (*I*; in terms of lm/sr) per unit area (*A*):

$$L = dI/dA \tag{2.1}$$

when viewing from a larger angle, the area looks smaller as compared to that at normal direction with a $\cos\theta$ relation. θ is the angle between the viewing direction and the surface normal. That is

 $dA = dA_0 \cos\theta \tag{2.2}$

where A_0 is the area viewing from normal direction. Because luminance of a Lambertian is the same for any viewing direction, one can obtain the luminous intensity as:

$$I = I_0 \cos \theta \tag{2.3}$$

where I_0 is the luminous intensity at normal direction of the surface. Incident flux to the Lambertian surface can be represented as:

$$F_{\rm in} = EA \tag{2.4}$$

The total luminous flux which radiates from the surface is:

$$F_{\text{out}} = \int I d \,\omega = \int I(\theta) d \,\omega = \int \int I(\theta) d \,\phi \sin \,\theta d \,\theta$$
$$= I_0 \int_0^{2\pi} \int_0^{\pi/2} \cos \,\theta \,\sin \,\theta d\theta d\phi = 2\pi I_0 \int_0^{\pi/2} \cos \,\theta \,\sin \,\theta d\theta = \pi I_0 = \pi LA$$
(2.5)

18 2 Color Science and Engineering

Since the luminous flux of the incident beam on the surface is equal to that of the exiting light ($F_{in} = F_{out}$), one can obtain:

$$E = \pi L \tag{2.6}$$

Typically, power efficiency (in terms of lm/W) is used to describe the efficiency of a display system. For example, if the total input electrical power (wall-plug power) of the display is 10 W and the total radiated flux is 20 lm, the power efficiency of the display is 2 lm/W. The power efficiency describes how much optical power emitted from a display (lm) which is produced by an electrical power input (W). For electroluminescence (EL) devices such as LED, current efficiency is also defined in terms of cd/A. The denominator is current, which quantifies the number of electron–hole pairs provided to the display in unit time. The electron–hole pairs recombine and generate photons which are received by human eyes (cd). For example, consider a Lambertian emitting EL display which, as above, emits a total luminous flux of 20 lm with the current = 300 mA. Then the current efficiency of the display is 21.22 cd/A.

2.3 THE EYE

Figure 2.3a shows a schematic diagram of a human eye [3]. The incoming light passing through the cornea, the aqueous humor, eye lens, and vitreous body, is received by the retina. Primary refraction and approximate focusing of light is achieved at the air/cornea interface. The eye lens, with a higher refractive index (n = 1.42) than the cornea, the aqueous humor, and vitreous body (n = 1.33-1.37), functions to focus a clear image to the retina, as shown in Figure 2.3b,c [4]. The shape of the eye lens can be adjusted by the ciliary muscle around it. Such a system can be approximately described by the Gaussian Lens formula [5]:

$$\frac{1}{d_1} + \frac{1}{d_2} = \frac{1}{f},\tag{2.7}$$

where d_1 is the distance from the object to the eye lens, d_2 is the distance from the eye lens to the retina (which is 17 mm typically), and f is the focal length. The image on the retina is totally reversed (upside-down and right–left). However, after interpretation by the brain we can recognize the images in their normal orientation in real space. When the object viewed is more distant, the eye lens becomes flatter, as shown in Figure 2.3b. On the other hand, the ciliary muscle will contract the eye lens to increase its curvature in order to focus nearby subjects, Figure 2.3c.

The retina receives the incoming photons and transfers them into bio-potential signals. After some processing within the eye, those signals are then transmitted through the optic nerve to the brain and interpreted



Figure 2.3 (a) Cross section of the eye; (b) and (c): formation of image in the human eye.